STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Aug 13 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMUEL LAMAR BURNSIDE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000133

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err by failing to quash the jury panel where the state used a peremptory strike in a racially discriminatory manner by striking a black juror due to the juror's age, but did not strike white jurors in the same age bracket, in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its November 2019 term, a Greenville County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2019-GS-23-8759). R. 344-345. The state, represented by Brian J. Moroney, Jr., and Anthony J. McCollum, Jr., called the case to trial before the Honorable Edward W. Miller and a jury on January 6-8, 2020. R. 1. Kenneth C. Gibson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury began deliberating at 10:42 a.m. on January 8, 2020. R. 327, ll. 24-25. About two hours later, the jury indicated they had a question regarding evidence presented by the state. R. 330, ll. 1-2. Approximately thirty minutes later, the jury had another question about the evidence. R. 331, ll. 24-25. At 4:51 p.m., six hours after starting their deliberations, the jurors returned with guilty verdicts. R. 333, ll. 17-23. Judge Miller sentenced Appellant to forty-five years imprisonment for murder and five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 336, l. 5; R. 346; R. 347.

On January 21, 2020, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, [the appellate court] will review errors of law only.” State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 508, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009). The appellate court “is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. The reviewing court “is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion” and “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Id. The appellate court “simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by an evidence.” Id.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred by failing to quash the jury panel where the state used a peremptory strike in a racially discriminatory manner by striking a black juror due to the juror's age, but did not strike white jurors in the same age bracket, in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution.

Relevant facts

At the conclusion of jury selection, defense counsel informed the judge that he objected to the jury selection process. R. 17, ll. 22-24. First, the judge heard the objection during a bench conference that was not transcribed. R. 18, l. 5. After excusing the jury from the courtroom, defense counsel explained he objected to the jury selection process based upon Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). R. 25, ll. 6-14. Defense counsel noted that Appellant was “a black male” and the prosecutor struck the only two black males who were in the panel. R. 25, ll. 6-14. Specifically, the state struck Juror #237 and Juror #139. R. 25, l. 23 – R. 26, l. 1. He argued the strikes were in violation of Batson. R. 25, ll. 6-14.

The solicitor responded that he struck Juror #139 because “the criminal history check prior to this trial revealed that in 2012, Juror #139 had a possession of marijuana in Alabama and carrying a concealed weapon in Alabama, as well as a possession of drug paraphernalia in Alabama. It's showing no disposition for those.” R. 26, ll. 6-11. According to the solicitor, Juror #139 also had “a possession of marijuana that's currently pending here in magistrate's court in Greenville County, as well as an unlawful carrying of a pistol that's pending with the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office and has not yet been assigned.” R. 26, ll. 12-16. The solicitor explained the strike was “[e]xclusively based on that reason.” R. 26, ll. 17-19. Judge Miller found this was a race-neutral reason for the strike. R. 26, ll. 22-23.

Regarding Juror #237, the solicitor noted he was born after 2001. R. 26, l. 24 – R. 27, l. 1. The solicitor “believe[d] that age, and the gravity of this case, and the many nuances that we’ll get into over the next several days, [he] just had concerns that with his young age, he would not be able to appreciate those - - the detailed nature of this case that’s to be presented.” R. 27, ll. 3-7. Additionally, the solicitor explained that “coincidentally,” “this juror was, also, unemployed.” R. 27, ll. 16-17.

Defense counsel argued the state’s alleged reasons for striking the jurors were pretexts for underlying discrimination. R. 27, ll. 22-23. Regarding Juror #139, whom the state allegedly struck due to his prior criminal history, defense counsel explained that Juror #34, a white female, was not struck despite the fact that she had a prior criminal history. R. 27, l. 25 – R. 28, l. 3. Defense counsel also objected to the state’s claim that Juror #237 was due to age because during the bench conference the state claimed the juror was “not attentive.” R. 28, ll. 4-7. Having sat through general jury qualifications, defense counsel described Juror #237 as “extremely attentive” during that process. R. 28, ll. 7-11. According to defense counsel, Juror #237 was “at the edge of his seat leaning forward listening to what Judge Stilwell was saying.” R. 28, ll. 11-13. Additionally, defense counsel noted the state failed to strike a “white male juror who appeared of a youthful age.” R. 30, ll. 4-5. The state also failed to strike a white female juror who was born in 1997. R. 31, ll. 9-12.

The solicitor admitted to seating a white juror with “a prior conviction for fraud check from ... 1984.” R. 28, ll. 18-20. Yet, the solicitor sought to distinguish the white juror from the black juror, whom the solicitor struck. The solicitor claimed this distinction was “there’s charges in the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office currently.” R. 28, ll. 21-23.

Further, the solicitor admitted to seating a white juror who was born in 1995. R. 30, ll. 7-8. Yet again, the solicitor tried to distinguish the white juror from the black juror, whom the solicitor struck, by explaining the black juror was six years younger than the white juror. R. 30, ll. 7-10. The solicitor called this a “meaningful” difference because the black juror was “essentially, a teenager, almost 20 years old.” R. 30, ll. 10-13; R. 31, ll. 13-16. The solicitor admitted the juror was not “twiddling his thumbs looking at the ceiling,” but the solicitor claimed “he did not appear ... to be as focused and appreciate the gravity of the situation that he was about to undertake potentially, if selected.” R. 30, ll. 18-22. “To be blunt,” the strike was “simply about whether he would appreciate and have the life experiences necessary for ... deciding this case.” R. 31, ll. 4-8.

Without explanation, the judge denied the motion to challenge the jury. R. 31, ll. 17-18.

Discussion

The United States Supreme Court held that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the prosecution from striking potential jurors on the basis of race. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). In a subsequent opinion, the United States Supreme Court held that a criminal defendant may not engage in racial discrimination in exercising peremptory strikes. Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 59 (1992). Two years later, the United States Supreme Court recognized that the Fourteenth Amendment also prohibits the striking of a juror on the basis of gender. J.E.B. v. Alabama, 511 U.S. 127, 146 (1994).

The Supreme Court has long recognized “that denying a person participation in jury service on account of his race unconstitutionally discriminates against the excluded juror.” Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 48 (1992). The Court devised Batson and its procedures “to remedy the harm done to the dignity of persons and to the integrity of the courts.” Id. (internal quotation

omitted). When a party strikes a juror based on race, “there can be no doubt that the harm is the same – in all cases, the juror is subjected to open and public racial discrimination.” Id. at 49.

When jury selection procedures purposefully exclude African-Americans, public confidence in the criminal justice system is undermined. Id. “Be it at the hands of the state or the defense, if a court allows jurors to be excluded because of group bias, it is a willing participant in a scheme that could only undermine the very foundation of our system of justice – our citizens’ confidence in it.” Id. at 49-50 (internal quotation omitted).

In Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767 (1995), the United States Supreme Court set out the procedures for a trial court to follow when a party challenges a peremptory strike. This Court adopted that procedure in State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 124, 470 S.E.2d 366, 372 (1996). The first step requires the moving party to make out a prima facie case of racial or gender discrimination.¹ At the second step, the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the strike to present a race or gender neutral explanation for the challenged strike. If a race or gender neutral explanation is provided, then the third step requires the trial judge to decide whether the moving party has proven purposeful racial or gender discrimination. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 767; see also State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 415, 645 S.E.2d 904, 909 (2007).

According to the United States Supreme Court, the “second step of this process does not demand an explanation that is persuasive, or even plausible.” Purkett, 514 U.S. at 767-68; see also State v. Inman, 409 S.C. 19, 26, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108 (2014). This Court recognized that the proponent of the strike does not carry “any burden of presenting reasonably specific, legitimate explanations” for the strikes. Adams, 322 S.C. at 123, 470 S.E.2d at 371. Unless discriminatory

¹ This Court has determined that “requesting a Batson hearing in effect sets out a prima facie case of discrimination.” State v. Chapman, 317 S.C. 302, 305-306, 454 S.E.2d 317, 319-320 (1995) overruled on other grounds by State v. Hicks, 330 S.C. 207, 499 S.E.2d 209 (1998).

intent is inherent in the explanation, it is deemed race neutral at step two. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768.

However, the Supreme Court explained that while

the explanation provided by the proponent of a peremptory challenge at the second stage of the Batson process ... need not be persuasive, or even plausible, ... it must be clear and reasonably specific such that the opponent of the challenge has a full and fair opportunity to demonstrate pretext in the reason given and the trial court to fulfill its duty to assess the plausibility of the reason in light of all the evidence bearing on it.

State v. Giles, 407 S.C. 14, 21-22, 754 S.E.2d 261, 264 (2014). Otherwise, the opponent of the challenge and the trial court would not have the ability to safeguard the right to equal protection. Id. “Reasonably specific is necessary because comparison to other members of the venire for purposes of a disparate treatment analysis, which is often used at the third step of the Batson process to determine if purposeful discrimination has occurred, is impossible if the proponent of the challenge provides only vague or very general explanation.” Id. at 22, 754 S.E.2d at 263. The explanation given “may not be so general or vague that it deprives the opponent of the challenge the ability to meet the burden to show, or the trial court of the ability to determine whether, the reason given is pretextual.” Id. “The proponent of the challenge must provide an objectively discernible basis for the challenge that permits the opponent of the challenge and the trial court to evaluate it.” Id.

During the third step, the moving party “must show the reason offered, though facially race-neutral, was actually mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination.” State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 315, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing Adams, 322 S.C. at 124, 470 S.E.2d at 372). “This burden is generally established by showing similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury.” Id. “Unless the discriminatory intent is inherent in a fundamentally implausible explanation, the opponent of the strike must make a bona fide showing that the proponent of the strike seated a juror who shared nearly every quality with the struck juror other than race to establish pretext.” Id. If the trial judge determines the race and gender neutral

explanations were mere pretext, then the trial court must quash the jury panel and select a new jury. Id. “The burden of persuading the court that a Batson violation has occurred remains at all times on the opponent of the strike.” Evins, 373 S.C. at 415, 645 S.E.2d at 909. The trial judge must examine the totality of the facts and circumstances in the record to determine whether a Batson violation occurred. State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 509, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009).

This Court previously addressed an exercise of a jury strike based upon age. State v. Easler, 322 S.C. 333, 344, 471 S.E.2d 745, 752 (Ct. App. 1996) aff’d as modified State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617 (1997). Easler’s counsel struck a juror because “[h]e was young” and “not within the sort ... of profile that [the defense was] looking for in a juror.” Id. The defense’s profile “was a middle aged person, someone that’s had some experience that ... would be willing to stand, listen to the evidence, had the maturity of foresight to listen to the evidence, determine what was true and what’s not true.” Id. The juror who was struck was twenty years old. Id. The trial judge determined the reason of age to strike was not race-neutral because “[t]he next person that sat was twenty-two, a white male. [Another juror] was twenty-seven, white female. [Another juror] was twenty-one. [Another juror] was twenty, [another juror] is twenty-nine.” Id. at 345, 471 S.E.2d at 752. The judge determined those jurors were “in that same age bracket.” Id. This Court held “[t]he trial judge did not err in finding that [Easler] was unable to articulate a racially neutral explanation for his peremptory challenges against black venire persons.” Id. at 348, 471 S.E.2d at 754. This Court explained “age cannot be considered a racially neutral explanation for the striking of [the juror] since [Easler] failed to strike several white venire persons in the same age bracket.” Id.

Similarly, here, the solicitor struck a juror who was born in 2001, or who was nineteen-years old at the time of the trial, but did not strike a juror who was born in 1997, or who was twenty-three years old at the time of the trial, and a juror who was born in 1995, or who was twenty-five years

old at the time of the trial. Just like in Easler, the juror who was struck by the state was in the same age bracket as at least two jurors who were seated and participated in the trial. The trial judge erred in denying defense counsel's motion to quash the jury panel based upon the state's discriminatory exercise of peremptory strikes.

The solicitor's remark that Juror #237 was unemployed cannot save the strike from discriminatory intent. South Carolina uses the "tainted approach" where multiple explanations are offered to explain a jury strike. Payton v. Kears, 329 S.C. 51, 59-60, 495 S.E.2d 205, 210 (1998). The Supreme Court explained that "[o]nce a discriminatory reason has been uncovered – either inherent or pretextual – this reason taints the entire jury selection procedure." Id. at 59, 495 S.E.2d at 210. "[A]ny consideration of discriminatory factors in this decision is in direct contravention of the purpose of Batson which is to ensure peremptory strikes are executed in a nondiscriminatory manner." Id. at 59-60, 495 S.E.2d at 210. "Active discrimination ... during th[e] process [of jury selection] condones violations of the United States Constitution within the very institution entrusted with its enforcement, and so invites cynicism respecting the jury's neutrality and its obligation to adhere to the law." Id. at 60, 495 S.E.2d at 210 (quoting Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 412 (1991)). Noting "Batson is only effective against the most obvious examples of racial and gender prejudices," the Court explained that "[t]o excuse such obvious prejudice because the challenged party can also articulate nondiscriminatory reasons for the preemptory strike would erode what little protection Batson provides against discrimination in jury selection." Id. "The challenged party should not have an opportunity to convince the judge that he would have struck the juror regardless of discriminatory reason." Id.

Here, the state may not rely upon Juror #237's unemployment or demeanor as a reason for its strike to cleanse the taint of racial discrimination in light of South Carolina's adoption of the

“taint approach.” The solicitor’s strike of Juror #237 based on age was a fundamentally pretextual reason in light of the white jurors who were not struck and were in the same age bracket as Juror #237. Furthermore, the exchange between the judge and the solicitor demonstrated that the solicitor’s reason for striking Juror #237 was completely unrelated to his unemployment. Notably, the solicitor remarked that Juror #237 was also unemployed when citing a case to argue that “a lack of life experience” based on age is “a credible reason for the same reason that unemployment is a sufficient reason for a strike.” R. 27, ll. 12-17. It was only when the solicitor read this portion of the case did the solicitor note that “coincidentally,” Juror #237 was “also” unemployed. The language used by the solicitor easily demonstrates that the solicitor did not exercise his strike against Juror #237 because he was unemployed.

The solicitor exercised his peremptory strike against Juror #237 in a racially discriminatory manner. Although the solicitor initially articulated a race neutral explanation for the strike, which was Juror #237’s age, defense counsel and the judge noted that at least two other jurors, who were white and not struck, were in the same age bracket. The white jurors were similarly situated the black juror; thus, defense counsel, the opponent of the strike, carried his burden of showing the state reason for strike was a pretext for racial discrimination. The trial judge erred by denying defense counsel’s motion to quash the jury panel in light of the state’s exercise of its strike against Juror #237 in a discriminatory manner.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.