RECEIVED

Aug 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
The Honorable Edward W. Miller

Appellate Case No. 2020-000133

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

SAMUEL LAMAR BURNSIDE,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(843) 467-8647

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

In all, the jury was composed of five white females (born in 1973, 1976, 1961, 1965, and 1998), two black females (born in 1974 and 1995), four white males (born in 1975, 1996, 1986, and 1980), and one Hispanic female (born in 1994), with a white female (born in 1997) and a

black female (born in 1986) serving as alternates. *See generally* R. 1–32. In all, the solicitor only exercised two of his ten strikes and the defense only exercised eight of his ten. R. 2, L. 24–25.

Once the jury was selected, the defense made a *Batson* motion:⁵

My client is a black male that the Prosecutor in this case – excuse me, there were two black males in the panel that were presented. The State in this case struck both of those two black males. We believe that those – those strikes were in violation of *Batson*. I believe, at this point, I’ve made a prima facie case and it switches over to Mr. Moroney.

R. 25, L. 6–14.

The State responded, saying:

First, with respect to Juror # 139, the criminal history check prior to the trial revealed that in 2012, Juror # 139 had a possession of marijuana in Alabama and carrying a concealed weapon in Alabama, as well as a possession of drug paraphernalia in Alabama. It’s showing no disposition for those. And in 2019, a possession for marijuana that’s currently pending here in magistrate’s court in Greenville County, as well as an unlawful carrying of a pistol that’s pending with the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office and has not yet been assigned. Exclusively based on that reason, the juror we did not feel would be qualified. And that would be the reason for the strike.

R. 26, L. 6–19.

The Court found the State’s reason for striking Juror # 139 to be race-neutral. R. 26, L.

22–23. The State continued, addressing their reasons for striking Juror # 237:

And, your Honor, finally, with respect to Juror # 237, the Defendant’s [sic] age being born after 2000 – and I can get the specific date of birth for you. Born April 20, 2001. That in addition – first, let me address the age. I belief that age, and the gravity of this case, and the many nuances that we’ll get into over the next several days, I just had concerns that with his young age, he would not be able to appreciate those – the detailed nature of this case that’s to be presented.

And I point you to *State v. Easler*, 322 S.C. 333, that a strike explanation need not be clear, reasonably specific, or legitimate. It only needs to be race or gender neutral. And, furthermore, *State v. Green*, 306 S.C. 94, references a lack of life experience being a credible reason for that same reason that unemployment is a sufficient reason for a strike under *State v. Ford*, 334 S.C. 59, which coincidentally this Defendant – this juror was, also, unemployed. So for the reasons of age, and unemployment, and having nothing to do, of course, with race or gender, we believe the strike, certainly, was proper.

⁵ Pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

R. 26, L. 24 to R. 27, L. 20.

The defense responded with:

Your Honor, I believe that both of those reasons are pretextual. Specifically, as to # 139, the State is saying that they kicked him from the panel because of a prior criminal history. While doing that, they, also, let another juror, a white juror, a white female juror, Juror # 34, who, also, has a prior criminal history on to the jury. As to the age of the other Defendant [sic], I have never heard of that being a legitimate reason to – to kick a juror off. Now, at the bench, the State said that he was not attentive.

I sat through the – the general juror qualification that happened downstairs. I watched the juror as he came into the room. He was extremely attentive through most of the – the stage that went on downstairs. He was, actually, at the edge of his seat leaning forward listening to what Judge Stilwell was saying. It just seems – seems very pretextual that the two members of these – these things supposedly are so important that the State can't let them on only apply to the two black males that were in the jury panel.

R. 27, L. 22 to R. 28, L. 1–17.

The State: “Your Honor, we have seated one juror who has a prior conviction for a fraud[ulent] check from 1990 – excuse me, '84, from 1984.” R. 28, L. 18–20. “However, with respect to Juror # 139, there's pending charges in the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office currently. And that's the primary reason.” R. 28, L. 21–25. “And I'd just like to mention that currently seated in the jury box, we have three African-American jurors, jurors # 117, # 61, and # 29.” R. 29, L. 1–3. The defense: “Your Honor, I just point out that none of these three African-American jurors are black males, which is the demographic from which the Defendant is a member of.” R. 29, L. 5–8. The State: “Your Honor, just for the record, our reason for excluding the juror was neither race nor gender related.” R. 29, L. 9–11. The defense: “But it was pretextual.” R. 29, L. 12. The State: “Specifically, with the – the text that I have quoted that the explanation need not be clear, reasonably specific, or legitimate. It only needs to be race or gender neutral.” R. 29, L. 15–18.

The Court concluded:

Well, if I'm reading correctly, the trial judge did not err in finding appellant was unable to articulate a racially-neutral explanation for [the] preemptory challenge. The defense counsel asserted that he struck this juror because of age.

However, age cannot be considered a racially neutral explanation since the opposing party failed to strike – or the appellant – excuse me – failed to strike several white venire persons in the same age bracket. So you're going to have to get a little more – and at the bench conference, Mr. Gibson did question the – another white male juror who appeared of a youthful age. So how can you distinguish that?

R. 29, L. 19 to R. 30, L. 6.

The State:

Your Honor, that juror that we spoke at the bench about was born in 1995. This juror was born in 2001. We're, you know, talking about a six-year age difference, which is meaningful. And the juror that's in question is, essentially, a teenager, almost 20 years old. And the juror that Mr. Gibson was referencing that's already been seated was significantly older. The – we mentioned at the bench conference – and to put on the record here, there were, also, concerns, although I understand that Mr. Gibson disputes that, of this juror – and this goes hand in hand with his age and the concerns we had.

I'm not saying that he was twiddling his thumbs looking at the ceiling, but he did not appear to me, in my opinion, to have – be as focused and appreciate the gravity of the situation that he was about to undertake potentially, if selected. And it's worth – worth noting that the Defendant [sic] is unemployed. And that is, per the case law, another valid reason.

R. 30, L. 7 to R. 31, L. 1.

The Court: "So you're considering his demeanor and facial expressions when you were making this decision?" R. 31, L. 2–3. The State: "To be blunt, Your Honor, this is simply about whether he would appreciate and have the life experiences necessary for the – deciding the case."

R. 31, L. 4–6, 8. The Defense: "And, Your Honor, I'd just point out that there is another juror who is on the panel as an alternate, Ashley Carlson, her birth date was 1997. So she's in that same time frame as well." R. 31, L. 9–12. The State: "It's, I think, a similar argument that we just had, your Honor – that's past that 2000 cutoff." R. 31, L. 13–14, 16. The Court: "All right. Well, I'm going to – I'm going to deny the motion on the challenge." R. 31, L. 17–18.

Analysis

The United States Supreme Court found in *Batson v. Kentucky* that the Equal Protection Clause forbids any party from peremptorily striking a potential juror because of their race alone. U.S. Const. amend. 14; *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) (holding modified by *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400 (1991) (a defendant's race is irrelevant to *Batson* inquiries)). The opponent of the strike must challenge it by making a showing of purposeful racial discrimination, which must be followed up by a proffer of a facially valid, race-neutral explanation for the strike by the proponent. *State v. Elmore*, 300 S.C. 130, 132, 386 S.E.2d 769, 770 (1989). "The burden of persuading the court that a *Batson* violation has occurred remains at all times on the opponent of the strike." *State v. Evins*, 373 S.C. 404, 415, 645 S.E.2d 904, 909 (2007).

"The opponent of the strike must show the race or gender neutral explanation was mere pretext, which generally is established by showing the party did not strike a similarly situated member of another race or gender." *State v. Shands*, 424 S.C. 106, 117, 817 S.E.2d 524, 530 (Ct. App. 2018). "In determining whether potential jurors are similarly situated, our courts have focused their inquiry on whether there are meaningful distinctions between the individuals compared." *State v. Scott*, 406 S.C. 108, 115, 749 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2013). "[T]he opponent of the strike must make a bona fide showing that the proponent . . . seated a juror *who shared nearly every quality* with the struck juror other than race to establish pretext." *State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 315, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct. App. 2006) (emphasis added). A showing of pretext does not automatically allow the trial court to excuse the jury; the defendant must show "through all relevant circumstances, that the prosecutor intentionally exercised his strike because of racial concerns." *United States v. McMillon*, 14 F.3d 948, 952, n.3 (4th Cir. 1994).

If a discriminatory intent is not inherent in the proponent’s explanation, the reason offered will be deemed race [or gender] neutral. *State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 314–15, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct. App. 2006). The trial court looks at the totality of the relevant facts in making his determination, including the solicitor’s credibility. *State v. Tucker*, 334 S.C. 1, 9, 512 S.E.2d 99, 103 (1999). “Often the demeanor of the challenged attorney will be the best and only evidence of discrimination, and an ‘evaluation of the attorney’s mind lies peculiarly within a trial court’s province.’” *State v. Taylor*, 399 S.C. 51, 57, 731 S.E.2d 596, 599–600 (Ct. App. 2012). “Typically, the decisive question becomes whether [counsel’s] race-neutral explanation for a peremptory challenge should be believed . . . [T]here is seldom much evidence in the record bearing on that issue, and the trial court’s findings regarding purposeful discrimination necessarily will rest largely on the evaluation of demeanor and credibility of counsel. Therefore, those findings are given great deference and will not be set aside unless clearly erroneous.” *State v. Guess*, 318 S.C. 269, 272–73, 457 S.E.2d 6, 8 (Ct. App. 1995). “[I]n the absence of exceptional circumstances, we will defer to the trial court . . . Appellate judges cannot on the basis of a cold record easily second-guess a trial judge’s decisions about likely motivation.” *Davis v. Ayala*, 576 U.S. 257, 274 (2015) (internal citations removed).⁶

“In deciding if the defendant has carried his burden of persuasion, a court must undertake a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available.” *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 93. A solicitor’s strike must be examined in light of the circumstances under which it is exercised, including an examination of the explanations offered for other strikes. *State v. Oglesby*, 298 S.C. 279, 280, 379 S.E.2d 891, 892 (1989). If the trial

⁶ “Even if reasonable minds reviewing the record might disagree about the prosecutor’s credibility . . . that does not suffice to supersede the trial court’s credibility determination.” *Davis v. Ayala*, 576 U.S. at 274 (quoting *Rice v. Collins*, 546 U.S. 333, 341–42 (2016)).

court finds the proponent violated *Batson*, the court must disqualify the jury and begin the selection process again. *State v. Wright*, 304 S.C. 529, 533, 405 S.E.2d 825, 828 (1991).

“The demeanor of a prospective juror is generally a race-neutral reason for employing a peremptory challenge.” *Cochran*, 369 S.C. at 317, 631 S.E.2d at 299; *Tucker*, 334 S.C. at 8, 512 S.E.2d at 102 (“Counsel may strike venire persons based on their demeanor and disposition.”) “The employment status of a prospective juror is a race-neutral reason for using a peremptory challenge.” *Cochran*, 369 S.C. at 318, 631 S.E.2d at 300; *State v. Haigler*, 334 S.C. 623, 632, 515 S.E.2d 88, 92 (1999) (unemployment is a race-neutral reason for strike); *Ford*, 334 S.C. at 65, 512 S.E.2d at 504. “The composition of the jury panel is a factor that may be considered when determining whether a party engaged in purposeful discrimination.” *Ford*, 334 S.C. at 65, 512 S.E.2d at 503.

In this case, the trial court looked at the totality of all of the facts and circumstances, including all circumstantial and direct evidence of the solicitor’s intent, and concluded no discriminatory intent was inherent in the solicitor’s three provided explanations for his strike: (1) the potential juror’s state of unemployment; (2) his young age; and (3) his demeanor. The judge spent a considerable amount of time on the record questioning the solicitor on the reasons for his strike and a considerable amount of time discussing relevant case law with counsel. He also spent time discussing the issue at an off-the-record bench conference with the State and the defense just before the hearing. The record demonstrates the judge understood the intricacies of *Batson* case law and properly analyzed the solicitor’s reasons for his peremptory strikes accordingly. The trial court rightly and fully investigated the defense’s allegations.

In making his decision, the judge also looked at the composition of the jury: the seated jurors were five white females, two black females, four white males, and one Hispanic female

with a white and a black female selected as alternates. He considered the length of the solicitor's explanations as well as the solicitor's demeanor and credibility. The trial court followed the proper procedure for a *Batson* hearing. As such, as the judge was in the best position to evaluate the demeanor and credibility of the solicitor, and subsequently found no inherent discriminatory intent, this Court should show the trial court the great deference owed it and affirm.

Regarding age as a stand-alone reason for a strike: in *Sumpter v. State*, our Supreme Court found the solicitor had not used his peremptory strikes in a racially discriminatory manner as the juror's young age and prior DUI "involvement" were race-neutral reasons for exercising a peremptory strike. *Sumpter v. State*, 312 S.C. 221, 439 S.E.2d 842 (1994). The record did not indicate the struck juror's age, just that he was "quite young." *Id.* at 223, 439 S.E.2d at 843–44. Even though two young white jurors, ages 26 and 31, were seated, the court found the strike to be race-neutral as the defense had failed to provide enough evidence to prove the strike was mere pretext for discrimination. *Id.* at 224, 439 S.E.2d at 844.

Regarding the composition of the jury as a factor: in *State v. Ford*, the appellant exercised most of his strikes against white jurors, but our Supreme Court found that fact alone was not enough to establish purposeful discrimination because he did not strike *every* white juror. *Ford*, 334 S.C. at 66, 512 S.E.2d at 504 (emphasis added). In *State v. Cochran*, this Court held that the defense's reasons for striking five white women were not pretextual because the appellants, who were black, only exercised ten of their twenty peremptory challenges and also struck two black women and three white men. *Cochran*, 369 S.C. at 314, 631 S.E.2d at 297. The final jury in *Cochran* was diverse, and included one white woman, three black men, four white men, and four black women, so this Court concluded purposeful racial discrimination was not engaged in. *Id.* at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298. This Court also concluded no discrimination was

inherent as the demeanor of some struck prospective jurors (the given reason) was generally a race-neutral reason for employing a strike. *Id.* at 317, 631 S.E.2d at 299. For purposes of this case, it is of importance to note this Court also found that any *Batson* violation regarding a possible alternative juror was harmless where the alternate was not needed for deliberations.

Here, the record does not indicate the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. As the solicitor stated during the *Batson* hearing, either party's reasons for exercising a peremptory strike are not required to be reasonably specific or even legitimate. They must only be race-neutral. The solicitor here provided not one but three race-neutral reasons for his strike of Juror # 237. Further, the solicitor did not use all of the peremptory strikes available to him. He only used two of his ten and he did not strike *every* black potential juror. Appellate defense is not challenging the solicitor's strike of the other black male juror, which means there is no pattern from which discrimination can be concluded. Finally, while the defense brought up the ages of other seated jury members at the hearing,⁷ the defense did not place on the record the demeanor of those jurors or their employment statuses. Therefore, the defense did not and has not shown the struck juror *shared nearly every quality* with a seated juror and as such have not successfully set forth that any were so similarly situated.

Unemployment and demeanor aside, the solicitor did provide a window into his thought process: he told the court they were striking jurors if they were born after 2000. The potential juror was born in 2001 and was struck according to plan. The record does not show an inherent discriminatory intent as unemployment, demeanor, and age are all race-neutral reasons this Court has found to be valid reasons for exercising a peremptory strike. This Court should affirm.

⁷ The alternate was not needed for deliberations, so any alleged *Batson* violation connected to her is harmless pursuant to *Cochran*. R. 326, L. 11 to R. 327, L. 9.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.